



# Exterior Property Maintenance Code

Version ~~6A 6 5B~~

Formatted: Centered

Formatted: Centered

Formatted: Strikethrough

Formatted: Centered, Indent: Hanging: 1"

ARTICLE 1

RESIDENTIAL, COMMERCIAL AND INDUSTRIAL  
EXTERIOR PROPERTY MAINTENANCE STANDARDS

**1.01 PURPOSE.**

The purpose of this exterior property maintenance code is to protect the public health, safety and general welfare as it pertains to areas, premises and buildings used for residential, commercial, ~~and~~ industrial, ~~travel~~ and public purposes. This protection is hereinafter provided by:

Formatted: Font color: Red

- a. Establishing minimum standards for maintain~~ance; ing residential, commercial and industrial property; to preserve and achieve the presentable appearance of existing structures and premises;~~ avoiding **blighting** effects of the substandard maintenance of structures and premises and their negative impact on the value of surrounding properties; and eliminating **hazardous conditions**;
- ~~b. Establishing the responsibilities of owners or entities having charge of structures occupied or vacant and their premises; and~~

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

It is the intent of Symmes Township Board of Trustees to work with all citizens to further the best interest of the community, through the **fair** and **consistent** administration of this Exterior Property Maintenance ("Code"). These regulations are intended to be a living document.

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

~~The provisions of this Code set forth the minimum conditions and the responsibilities of every person and/or legal entity owning, structures, equipment, and exterior property to preserve and to achieve the presentable appearance of existing structures and premises and to avoid blighting effects of the substandard maintenance of structures and premises, and their negative impact on the value of surrounding properties, and to eliminate hazardous conditions.~~

**1.02 GENERAL MAINTENANCE.**

All exterior properties ~~y~~ and premises shall be maintained in a **clean, safe and sanitary** condition. ~~The owner or entity having charge of the property shall keep all parts of the exterior property in a clean and sanitary condition. N~~o premises shall be in a condition that constitutes a **health hazard, safety hazard, or general nuisance.**

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

**ARTICLE 2**  
**DEFINITIONS**

**2.01 CONSTRUCTION OF LANGUAGE**

For the purpose of this Exterior Property Maintenance Code, certain terms or words shall be interpreted as follows:

1. Words used in the singular shall include the plural, and the plural the singular.
2. Words used in the present tense shall include the future tense;

~~3. Words in the masculine gender shall include the feminine and neuter;~~

~~5.4.~~ The word “May” is permissive.

~~6.5.~~ The phrase “used for” shall include the phrases “arranged for”, “designed for”, “intended for”, “maintained for” and “occupied for”.

~~7.6.~~ The word “person” includes a firm, association, organization, partnership, trust, company, or corporation as well as an individual; and

~~8.7.~~ The word “dwelling” includes the word “residence”.

**2.02 DEFINITIONS [note: cross-check IPMC]**

All words used in this Exterior Property Maintenance Code shall have their customary meanings, except those specifically defined in this Section.

**BUILDING CODE:** The most current edition of the State of Ohio buildings, or such other code as may be officially designated by Hamilton County Commissioners for the regulation of construction, alteration, addition, repair, removal, demolition use, location, occupancy, and maintenance of all buildings and structures.

**CLEAN** - Free from dirt and impurities; unsoiled.

**COMMERCIAL VEHICLE** – A vehicle which displays any commercial activity and which use is primarily used for commercial purposes.

**DETACHED** –When a structural element is physically disconnected from another and that connection is necessary to provide a positive connection.

**DETERIORATION** – To weaken, disintegrate, corrode, rust or decay and lose effectiveness.

**DWELLING UNIT** – A single unit providing complete, independent living facilities for one or more persons, including permanent provisions for living, sleeping, eating, cooking and sanitation.

**EASEMENT** – That portion of land or property reserved for present or future use by a person or agency other than the legal fee owner(s) of the property. The easement shall be permitted to be for use under, on or above a said lot or lots.

ENFORCEMENT OFFICER – The official who is charged with the administration and enforcement of this code, or any **duly authorized representative**.

Formatted: Highlight

EXTERIOR PROPERTY AREAS: Open space on the premises; on adjoining property under the control of owners or operators or such premises; or being used by persons within public areas, such as alleys, parks, streets, or other public spaces. **[Remove?]**

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Font: Bold

GARBAGE - The animal or vegetable waste resulting from the handling, preparation, cooking and consumption of food.

GRAFFITI: In addition to its usual and customary meaning of defacing walls or structures with messages or slogans, “graffiti” shall also mean any letter, numeral, figure, emblem, insignia, picture, outline, character, spectacle, delineation, announcement, word, phrase, diagram, symbol, sketch, inscription or representation where in the contents depict or represent any sexual activity or sexual organs; make explicit or implicit references to criminal activities or groups which promote or are involved in criminal activity; make explicit or implicit references to searing or fighting words; including defamatory references about any person or personal relationships; or include any marking, of any kind, which results in damage to, defacing or marring of, or discolor of, any sidewalk, street or public property, or the exterior surface of a wall, fence, door, building, or other structure, ~~whether publicly or privately owned.~~

IMMINENT DANGER – A condition which could cause serious or life-threatening injury or death at any time.

INFESTATION – The presence, within or contiguous to, a structure of premises of insects, rats, vermin or other pests.

JUNK OR INOPERABLE VEHICLE: A motor vehicle, which is stored outdoors including but not limited to cars, trucks, busses, trailers, campers, and boats, shall be deemed a junk or inoperable vehicle whenever any of the following occur:

1. The vehicle is without a valid current registration and/or license plate;
2. The vehicle is apparently inoperable;
3. The vehicle is without fully inflated tires and/or has any type of support under it;
4. The vehicle has a substantially damaged or missing window, windshield, door, motor, transmission, or other similar major part;
5. The vehicle is left on private property without the permission of the person having the right of possession of the property;
6. A trailer or other item(s) has been left on public property, unattached to motive power, in violation of notice by an ~~Enforcement~~ ~~Enforce-ment~~ Official to remove same from all public properties.

MOTOR VEHICLE: Shall be as defined in Section 4501 (B) of the Ohio Revised Code.

NEGLECT – The lack of property maintenance for a building or structure.

OCCUPANCY – Any individual living or sleeping in a building, or having possession of a space within a building.

OWNER – Any person, agent, operator, firm or corporation having a legal or equitable interest in the property; or recorded in the official records of the state, county or municipality as holding title to the property; or otherwise having control of the property, including the guardian of the estate of any such person, and the executor or administrator of the estate of such person if ordered to take possession or real property by a court.

PEST ELIMINATION - The control and elimination of insects, rodents or other pests by eliminating their harborage places; by removing or making inaccessible materials that serves as their food or water; by other approved pest elimination methods.

PREMISES – A lot, plot, site or parcel of land, easement or public way, including any buildings or structures thereon.

PUBLIC NUISANCE – includes the following:

1. The physical condition or use of any premises regarded as a public nuisance as defined herein or at common law; or
2. Any physical condition, use or occupancy or any premises or its appurtenances considered an attractive nuisance to children, including but not limited to junk, inoperable or unlicensed vehicles, abandoned wells, shafts, basements, excavations, abandoned refrigerators, **unmaintained or abandoned swimming pools**, or
3. Any premises which have improperly working drainage facilities; or
4. Any premises designated by fire, police, or public health authorities as unsafe for human habitation or use; or
5. Any premises, which are manifestly capable of being a fire hazard, or are manifestly unsafe or unsecured so as to endanger life, limb or property; or
6. Any premises which are unsanitary, or which are littered with rubbish or garbage.

Formatted: Font: Bold

PUBLIC ~~OR~~ PROPERTY – Any street, alley or similar parcel of land essentially unobstructed from the ground to the sky, which is deeded, dedicated or otherwise permanently appropriated to the public for public use, and any other publicly owned property or facility.

RUBBISH – Combustible and noncombustible waste materials, except garbage; the term shall include the residue from the burning of wood, coal, coke and other combustible materials, paper, rags, cartons, boxes, wood, **excelsior**, rubber, leather, tree branches, yard trimmings, tin cans, metals, **mineral matter**, glass, **crocker** and dust and other similar materials.

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

SAFE – Free from damage, danger; giving protection.

SANITARY –In a clean, healthy condition.

STRUCTURE – Anything constructed or erected, the use of which requires location on the ground.

TENANT – A person, corporation, partnership or group, whether or not the legal owner of record, occupying a building or portion thereof as a unit.

TRAILER – Shall include and be defined by ORC Sections 4501.01 (M), (N), and (P).

YARD – An open space on the same lot with a building or structure.

DRAFT

ARTICLE 3

ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT [note: locate at end of PMC]

3.01 APPLICATION OF EXTERIOR PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE

3.02 COMPLIANCE REQUIRED

Every portion of a building or premises uses or intended to be used for residential, commercial, or industrial purposes, shall comply with the provisions of this Exterior Property Maintenance Code, irrespective of when such building was constructed, altered or repaired, or premises occupied, except as hereinafter provided.

3.03 CONFLICT OF LAWS

In any case where a provision of this Exterior Property Maintenance Code is found to be in conflict with a provision of any zoning, building, fire, safety, health or other regulation, the provision of which establishes a higher standard for the promotion and protection of the safety and health, ~~the conflicting provision~~ shall prevail.

3.04 EXISTING REMEDIES

Nothing in this Exterior Property Maintenance Code shall be interpreted to abolish, impair, or prevent the execution of any existing remedies of Symmes Township, or its officers or agents, related to the abatement of a public nuisance. [Remove?]

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

3.05 SEPARABILITY

If any section, subsection, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase of this Exterior Property Maintenance Code is declared invalid for any reason whatsoever, such decision shall not affect the remaining portions of this Exterior Property Maintenance Code, which portions shall continue in full force and effect, and to this end the provisions of this Exterior Property Maintenance Code are hereby declared to be severable.

3.06 SAVINGS CLAUSE

This Exterior Property Maintenance Code shall not affect violations of any other resolution, ordinance, code or regulation existing prior to the effective date of this Exterior Property Maintenance Code, and any violation of such shall be governed and shall continue to be punishable to the full extent of the law under the provisions of those ordinances, codes or regulations in effect at the time the violation was committed. [Remove?]

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

3.07 ENFORCEMENT OFFICERS

A. **Enforcement Officers.** The Township Trustees shall assign the duties of administering and enforcing this Maintenance Code to qualified Enforcement Officers. Enforcement Officers may call upon any department, division or contractor of the Township for whatever assistance may be necessary to abate a violation of this Exterior Property Maintenance Code per Section 505.73 of the Ohio Revised Code.

B. **Liability.** No officer, agent or employee of Symmes Township shall be personally liable for any damage that may accrue to persons or property as a result of any act required or permitted in the discharge of duties under this Code. ~~[Remove?]~~

Formatted: Highlight

### **3.08 INSPECTIONS**

Enforcement Officers, for purposes of enforcing the provisions of this Exterior Property Maintenance Code, are authorized to make inspections of building exteriors and premises located within Symmes Township. For the purpose of making such inspections, and upon showing appropriate identification, Enforcement Officers are hereby authorized to examine and survey, at any reasonable hour, all residential, commercial industrial and other premises from the public right-of-way, or from a cooperating owner of adjacent property.

Formatted: Highlight

### **3.09 NOTICE OF VIOLATION WARNING**

Formatted: Strikethrough

A. **Content.** Whenever Enforcement Officers determine there is a violation of the provisions of this Code, Notice of such violation may be given to the property owner, and/or person or persons responsible therefore, and such Notice may order compliance as hereinafter provided. Such Notice and order shall:

1. Be in Writing;
2. Include a description of the real estate sufficient for identification;
3. Include a statement of the reason or reasons why Notice is being issued;
4. Include a correction order allowing a reasonable time for the repairs and improvements required to bring the property into compliance with the provisions of this Code; and
5. State the right of an aggrieved person to file an appeal of the Notice with the Maintenance Code Appeals Board within ten (10) days of receipt of said Notice.

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

B. **Service.** A Notice of Violation shall be deemed properly served if one or more of the following methods are used:

1. By personal delivery to the owner or occupant(s) of the premises, or by leaving the Notice at the premises with a person of suitable age and discretion; or
2. By certified mail, deposited in a United States Post Office, addressed to the person or persons responsible at his/their last known address, with return receipt requested. If a certified mail envelope is returned with endorsement showing that the envelope is unclaimed, then service shall be sent by ordinary mail, and the mailing shall be evidenced by a certificate of mailing which shall be filed by the Enforcement Officer. Service shall be deemed complete when the fact of mailing is entered of record, provided that the ordinary mail envelope is not returned by the postal authorities with an endorsement showing failure of delivery; or



3. By posting a copy of the Notice form in a conspicuous place on the premises found in violation and publishing a legal notice in the newspaper of general circulation in Symmes Township. The legal notice shall identify the owners of the property, the last address, if known, of the owners, the parcel identification, and the location and nature of the violation; or
4. For a junk motor vehicle, as an addition or alternative to providing service as described above, enforcement officials may provide service by affixing a Notice of Violation in a conspicuous place to the exterior of the vehicle.

### **3.10 EXTERIOR PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE APPEALS**

**A. Appeals Board.** To implement the purposes and requirements of this Exterior Property Maintenance Code, there is hereby created the Exterior Property Maintenance Code Appeals Board, hereinafter referred to as the Board. For the purposes of this Code, the Symmes Township Board of Zoning Appeals (BZA) shall function as the Exterior Property Maintenance Code Appeals Board.

1. Procedure. ~~Said Board may adopt rules or procedure not inconsistent with this Code.~~ No member of the Board shall take part in any hearing or determination in which he or she has a personal or financial interest. **Three (3) members of the Board in attendance at any meeting shall constitute a quorum. [same as BZA?]**
2. Authority. The Board shall hear all appeals relative to the enforcement of this Code, and, by concurring vote of a majority of its members, may reverse, affirm, modify, wholly or in part, the decision appealed from; and the Board shall make such order or determination as in its opinion ought to be made. Failure to secure a majority BZA opinion to modify a Notice of Violation shall be deemed a confirmation of decisions by the Enforcement Officer.

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Font: Bold

**B. Hearings.** Any person affected by any Notice of Violation which has been issued in connection with enforcement of any provisions of this Exterior Property Maintenance Code, may request, and shall be granted, a hearing on the matter before the Exterior Property Maintenance Code Appeals Board, provided that such person shall properly file an appeal, on forms provided by Symmes Township, in the Symmes Township Administrative Offices. Such appeal shall be filed **within ten (10) days after** the date of the Notice and Order. Upon receipt of such an appeal, the Exterior Property Maintenance Code Appeals Board shall set a time and place for hearing, and shall give the appellant petitioner written notice thereof by first class mail postmarked at least ten (10) days prior to such hearing. The hearing shall be held no less than ten (10) days and no more than thirty (30) days from the date an appeals petition is filed. At such hearing, the appellant shall be given an opportunity to be heard, and to show cause why any item appearing on such Notice and Order should be modified or withdrawn. The failure of the appellant or their representative to appear at such hearing and state a basis of appeal shall have the same effect as if no petition were filed.

Formatted: Highlight

**C. Findings.** Prior to sustaining any Notice of Violation and compliance order, the Exterior Property Maintenance Code Appeals Board shall make the following

findings:

1. The violator was served with a Notice of Violation ~~and/or Citation Tag~~ as provided for in Sections 3.09 ~~and 3.11~~.
2. The ~~Citation Tag and/or~~ Notice of Violation that was served stated the specific nature of the violation, corrective action needed to abate the violation, and a specific time period for violation abatement.
3. **Within the time period stipulated** in the ~~Citation Tag and/or~~ Notice of Violation by not bringing affected premises into compliance with the Symmes Township Exterior Property Maintenance Code.
4. Upon expiration of the date indicated for compliance in the Notice of Violation, the property was being maintained in violation of specific provisions of the Symmes Township Exterior Property Maintenance Code and/or conditions imposed by the Appeals Board as modification of a previous compliance order.

Formatted: Highlight

**D. Authority of Appeals Board.** Within thirty (30) days of the close of the public hearing, the Appeals Board shall render a decision sustaining, modifying, or negating any item appearing on the Notice and Order. The appellant shall be notified in writing of such action.

### **3.11 CITATION TAGS** ~~[incorporate into 3.09 Notice of Violation]~~

Formatted: Strikethrough

Enforcement Officers are authorized to use Citation Tags for purposes of giving due notice and summons to persons responsible for violations of this Exterior Property Maintenance Code.

- A. Contents.** Citation Tags shall be put in writing on an appropriate form, state the nature of the violation, refer to the section or sections of this Code that have been violated, and state the appropriate assessment or penalty therefore.
- B. Payment of Assessment.** When a Citation Tag has been served, such person or persons named shall appear at the place or places designated upon such tag, and shall pay the assessment for the violation noted on the Citation Tag. Upon full payment of the assessment, within the time limit specified, no further action will be taken to prosecute the violation noted on the citation, provided remedial action, if necessary, is taken.
- C. Notice and Future Violation.** The Citation Tag, as herein provided, shall be sufficient notice, summons, and legal service thereof for the purposes specified thereon; provided, however, that the use of such tags shall not prohibit the issuance of either additional Citation Tags or additional legal notices of violation in the event violations are continued or repeated.
- D. Establishment of Fee Schedule by Township Trustees.** Prior to the issuance of any Citation Tag, the Board of Township Trustees shall adopt by resolution a Citation Tag assessment fee schedule. From time to time, and upon its own motion, said Township Trustees may modify the Citation Tag assessment fee schedule.

E. **Penalty Assessment.** When a violation citation tag has been issued pursuant to this section, an amount established by the Township Trustees is hereby assessed on the violator. Failure to pay the assessment within a period of thirty (30) days after the date of service of the citation tag shall constitute a minor misdemeanor, punishable as provided in Section ~~3.4.99~~ of this resolution. Assessments may also be attached to the property taxes for the property in question.

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Double strikethrough

### **3.12 PROSECUTION**

In case any Notice of Violation order is not promptly complied with, an Enforcement Officer may request the Township Attorney to institute an appropriate action ~~or proceeding at law to exact the penalty provided in Section 3.99 of this Code, and in addition thereto, may ask the Township attorney~~ to proceed at law or in equity against the persons responsible for a violation for purposes of seeking abatement of such nuisance.

### **3.13 ABATEMENT OF NUISANCE BY SYMMES TOWNSHIP AND COST RECOVERY**

Should a nuisance not be abated **at the expiration of the time stated** in the Notice of Violation issued by an Enforcement Officer, or during any extensions granted, or during such additional time as the Exterior Property Maintenance Code Appeals Board may grant, the Enforcement Officer shall be authorized at any time thereafter to (1) either request a court to authorize entry upon private property to take such action as is deemed appropriate to abate the nuisance; (2) in the case of public property, effect removal of the public nuisance. These remedies shall exist in addition to any remedies provided elsewhere in this Maintenance Code. In abating such nuisance, the Enforcement Officer may call on any department, division, or contractor of the Township for whatever assistance may be necessary to abate the aforesaid nuisance; or may, by private contract, abate such nuisance, with the cost of the abatement contract paid for from Township funds. All costs for abating such nuisance shall be recovered in the following manner:

Formatted: Highlight

1. The owner(s) shall be billed directly, by certified mail deposited with the United States Post Office. In the event the certified mail envelope is returned with an endorsement showing that the envelope has been unclaimed, then service shall be sent by ordinary mail and the mailing shall be evidenced by a certificate of mailing filed by the Enforcement Officer.
2. If the costs are not so recovered within thirty (30) days of receipt of the mailing described in Section 3.13 (1), the Township may collect the cost in accordance with the Ohio Revised Code.

### ~~**3.14 RULEMAKING AUTHORITY**~~

### ~~**3.15 TRANSFER OF OWNERSHIP [is this enforceable? Could instead use Affidavit of Fact filed with Recorder]**~~

~~It shall be unlawful for the owner of any building or structure who has received a notice of violation to sell, transfer, mortgage, lease or otherwise dispose of same to another until the~~

Formatted: Highlight

provisions of the Notice of Violation have been complied with, or until such owner shall first furnish the grantee, transferee, mortgagee, or lessee a true copy of any Notice of Violation issued by an Enforcement Officer and shall furnish to the code official a signed and acknowledging receipt of such Notice of Violation and fully accepting the responsibility, without condition, for making the corrections or repairs required by such Notice of Violation.

**3.16 ABANDONMENT OF CONSTRUCTION PROJECT [is this enforceable?]**

All construction work shall be diligently pursued to completion on any building or structure for which a building permit has been issued, unless forestalled by circumstances beyond the property owner's control (e.g. labor strikes, inclement weather, etc.) Any construction project upon which no substantial work has been undertaken for a period of six (6) months shall be deemed abandoned. Upon any construction project being deemed abandoned, all buildings or structures not completed to the degree such buildings or structures have been indicated on the plans submitted in support of a building permit, as well as all building materials and construction equipment, shall be removed from the site.

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

~~3.17 IMPOUNDING OF JUNK MOTOR VEHICLES~~

~~3.18 VEGETATION AND WEED CUTTING (in accordance with ORC #####)~~

- A. No person owning or being in possession of land within the Township shall fail to keep such property free and clear of all noxious weeds and rank vegetation, or fail to cut all such weeds and vegetation on land either owned or in their possession, whenever such weeds or vegetation have grown to a height of eight (8) inches or more.
- B. In addition to the requirements of Section 3.18(A), no person shall permit any grass or weeds to grow to a height of eight (8) inches or more on any section of public right-of-way, including any easement areas contiguous to their property and on their property side of any pavement traveled by motor vehicles.
- C. No person shall permit trees, bushes, shrubs, or other growth to overhang or block any part of either a sidewalk or unpaved, but traveled, portion of a street for a height of seven (7) feet above said surface; or to overhang or block any part of a paved street for a height of fourteen (14) feet above the surface.

Commented [BP1]: Move Section 3.18 to Section 4.05

~~3.181 NOTIFICATION FOR WEED CUTTING [same as 3.09 Notice of Violation]~~

~~Whenever an Enforcement Officer determines there is a violation of Sections 3.18 A or B, notice shall be given as provided in Section 3.09, except that it shall be permissible for the Enforcement Officer only to provide such notice to the person in charge of the property once annually, thereby permitting all subsequent enforcement actions in a given year to be undertaken without notice.~~

~~3.18.2 FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH NOTICE TO CUT WEEDS, RANK VEGETATION, TREES OR BUSHES~~

## ARTICLE 4

### EXTERIOR PROPERTY MAINTENANCE STANDARDS

#### 4.01 GENERAL [covered in 1.01]

- A. ~~Scope.~~ The provisions of this chapter shall govern the minimum conditions and the responsibilities of persons for maintenance of structures, equipment and exterior property.

#### 4.02 STRUCTURAL SOUNDNESS AND MAINTENANCE OF DWELLINGS

All foundations, exterior walls, and the roofs of every dwelling shall be so constructed and maintained, and shall be kept in good repair and in safe conditions, so as to make all occupied rooms and other interior areas weather-tight. Water-tight, rodent-proof, fit for human habitation, and kept so as not to adversely affect the neighborhood in which they are located. Good repair, maintenance, and safe conditions shall include, but not limited to, the following:

- ~~1.~~ Foundations. Foundations shall support the building at all points and shall be free of holes and cracks and maintained in sound condition, which may admit rodents, water, or dampness to the interior of the building, or which may lessen the capability of the foundation to support the building.
- ~~3-2.~~ Windows. Windows shall be fully supplied with window glass or an approved substitute which is glazed and without open cracks or holes. Window sashes shall be in good condition, properly fitted within frames, capable of being easily opened and held in position by hardware, and shall be maintained in sound condition, so as to exclude adverse weather elements from entering the structure.
- ~~4-3.~~ Exterior Doors. Doors shall be maintained so as to be structurally sound; fit within frames so as to be weatherproof, windproof, and water-proof; and shall be provided with door hinges and door latches which are in good working condition.
- ~~5-4.~~ Roof. Roof members, roof coverings, and flashing shall be structurally sound and tight in sound condition, so as to prevent the entrance of moisture, and shall be maintained by renewal, repair, waterproofing or other suitable means. Roof drainage shall be adequate to prevent rain water from causing dampness within the building.
- ~~6.~~ Gutters. Rain gutters, downspouts, leaders or other means of water diversion shall be provided to collect, transmit conduct, and discharge all water from the roof, and such appurtenances shall be maintained in sound condition, so as not to leak

Formatted: Highlight

~~or cause dampness in the walls, ceiling, or basements or adversely affect adjacent properties.~~  
and shall be maintained in **sound condition**.

~~8-6.~~ **Porch.** Every porch shall be so constructed and maintained so as to be free of missing, defective, rotted, or deteriorated foundations, supports, floors, railings, and steps thereto, so as to be safe to use, and porch elements shall be kept in **sound condition** and in good repair.

~~9-7.~~ **Exterior surfaces.** Except for materials that have been designed to remain untreated, all exterior wood, composition, or metal surfaces shall be protected from the elements by paint or other protective covering. Surfaces shall be maintained so as to keep clean and free of flaking and loose or peeling paint.

~~10-8.~~ **Basement.** Basement or cellar hatchways shall be so constructed and maintained **in sound condition, as to prevent the entrance of rodents, rain, and surface drainage into a dwelling.**

~~11-9.~~ **Decorative Features.** All cornices, entablatures, bell courses, corbels, terra cotta trim, wall facings, shutters, soffits, cornices and similar decorative features shall be maintained in good repair, with proper anchorage, and in a **sound safe** condition.

~~12-10.~~ **Overhang Extensions.** All overhang extensions including, but not limited to canopies, marquees, signs, awnings, fire escapes, standpipes, and exhaust ducts shall be maintained in good repair and be properly anchored so as to be kept in **sound condition**. When required, all exposed surfaces of metal or wood shall be protected from the elements and against decay or rust by periodic application of weather coating materials, such as paint or similar surface treatment. All canopies, signs, awnings, exterior stairways, fire escapes, standpipes, exhaust ducts, porches, balconies and similar overhanging extensions, where exposed to public view, shall be maintained in good condition and shall not show evidence of ripping, tearing, or deterioration.

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

#### **4.03 PAINT AND COATING MATERIALS**

All paint and other coating materials shall be free of any lead. Such materials also shall be free of dangerous substances banned for health and safety reasons from general use by authorized federal, state, county, or local regulatory agencies.

#### **4.04 PROPERTY AND STRUCTURE EXTERIORS**

All buildings and the exterior of all premises, shall be properly maintained so as to achieve a **presentable appearance** and avoid blighting effects and hazardous conditions.

Formatted: Highlight

- A. Exterior Space.** The exterior open space around every dwelling shall be improved and maintained so as to provide for:
1. The immediate diversion of water away from buildings, and proper drainage of the lot;
  2. Grass, plantings, or other suitable ground cover to prevent soil erosion which is, or may become detrimental to the structures, lot use, or adjacent lots and structures.

3. Walks, parking areas, ~~and~~ driveways ~~and non-gravel driveway aprons within right-of-way (reference County/State code) of the municipality, or in the area of which the sound construction and properly maintained; and~~
4. Exterior steps which are of **sound construction** and properly maintained, free of hazardous conditions.

Formatted: Highlight

~~**Maintenance.** The exterior of all premises and every structure thereon, including but not limited to walls, roofs, cornices, chimneys, drains, towers, porches, landings, fire escapes, stairs, signs, windows, doors, awnings, siding, shutters, soffits, and all surfaces thereof, shall be maintained so as to avoid any blighting effects on neighboring properties, and shall be painted or protected where necessary for purposes of preservation. All canopies, signs, awnings, exterior stairways, fire escapes, standpipes, exhaust ducts, porches, balconies, and similar overhanging extensions, where exposed to public view, shall be maintained in good condition, and shall not show evidence of ripping, tearing, or deterioration.~~

**C.B. Hazards.** Hazards and unsanitary conditions shall be eliminated.

**D.C. Occupancy.** No temporary buildings, trailers, recreational vehicles, tents, garages, barns or similar abodes shall be used either temporarily or permanently as a residence during the course of construction on a site or for any other reason.

**E.D. Exterior Storage.** Except as provided for in ~~[cite resolution(s)] other regulations of the Township,~~ outdoor storage of any kind shall be prohibited.

**F.E. Drainage.** All portions of premises shall be graded to prevent the erosion of soil and prevent the pooling of water or recurrent entrance of water into any part of any building, ~~except when such~~ **Any** pooling or retention of water ~~shall be is located at an appropriate distance from the building, and~~ part of a plan approved by the appropriate Hamilton County Agency.

Formatted: Font: Bold

**G.F. Drainage Swales.** Swales are to be maintained on the property on which they are located. At no time shall shrubs and/or trees be planted; nor shall any material, fill or waste be discharged, emptied, or placed into any swale so as to divert or impede drainage flow. Small swales can be mowed as part of the yard. Larger swales, in meadow situations, should be mowed less frequently ~~in order~~ to allow taller grasses to grow, ~~in order to~~ retard runoff and prevent erosion. Swales in woodland areas shall be left in their natural condition, leaving understory growth to retard runoff and prevent erosion.

Formatted: Font: Bold

~~Private drainage easements, previously permitted by Hamilton County, shall not be altered without obtaining a subsequent permit. Any unauthorized pipe or swale blockage must be removed and the swale reestablished.~~

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0.5"

Commented [BP3]: Check with Law Director.

**H.G. Junk, Inoperable or Unlicensed Vehicle.** No **junk**, inoperable, or unlicensed vehicle shall be located on any residential property or public property, or in violation of applicable zoning district regulations, except when stored within a completely

Formatted: Highlight



enclosed building.

**I.H. Downspouts and sump pumps.** The water from downspouts shall be appropriately discharged ten (10) feet from private property into an approved drainage system. The water from sump pumps and pools shall be appropriately discharged fifteen (15) feet from private properties.

~~**J.I. Overgrown Grass, Vegetation, Garbage, Refuse or Other Debris.** All yards, courts, and lots shall be kept free of overgrown grass, vegetation, garbage, refuse or other debris which may cause a fire, health, safety hazard, or general unsightliness. [covered in 3.18]~~

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Font: Bold

**K.J. Fences and Walls.** All fences, retaining walls, or similar structures shall be anchored firmly in the ground, shall be constructed in a workmanlike manner and maintained in that same manner so that such approved fences, retaining walls, or similar structures shall always be in a state of good structural repair. If any fence, retaining wall, or similar structure is found not to be in a state of good structural repair, it shall be removed, replaced, or repaired as required. ["in sound condition"]

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Font: Bold

**L.K. Stairways, Decks, Porches and Balconies.** Every exterior stairway, deck, porch and balcony, and all appurtenances attached thereto, shall be maintained structurally sound, in good repair, with proper anchorage and capable of supporting the imposed loads.

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

~~**M.L. Defacement of Property.** If any person shall willfully or wantonly damage, mutilate or deface any exterior surface of any structure or building on any private or public property by placing thereon any marking, carving or graffiti. It shall be the responsibility of the owner to restore said surface to an approved state of maintenance and repair. [covered in 4.10]~~

Formatted: Font: Bold

#### **4.05 VEGETATION**

**A. Vegetation Cutting Required.** All grass (excluding decorative grasses in season), weeds and rank vegetation shall be periodically cut so as to not exceed a height of eight (8) inches.

**B. Maintenance of Plantings.** All plant materials, especially trees and shrubs, afflicted with decay, disease, insect infestation, or otherwise considered dangerous to other plant materials, shall be removed or appropriately treated. All sound plant materials, especially trees and shrubs, shall be properly maintained and not evidence signs of neglect. ~~Dead trees affecting surrounding properties shall be removed. [move to 3.18]~~

Formatted: Font: Bold

#### **4.06 STAIRWAYS**

Exterior Stairways on all residential premises shall be kept in accordance with the following provisions:



~~4.~~ Stairways shall be maintained in sound condition, free of holes, grooves, and cracks which constitute a safety hazard;

~~3-2.~~ Stairways shall have treads of uniform width and risers of uniform height; and

~~4-3.~~ Stairway handrails and/or railings shall be firmly fastened and maintained in good condition. Where the absence of handrails and/or railings creates a hazardous condition, an Enforcement Officer may require installation in accordance with the provisions of the Hamilton County Building Code.

#### **4.07 ACCESSORY STRUCTURES**

Structures accessory to dwellings, including detached garages, shall be structurally sound, neatly maintained, and in good repair, or such accessory structures shall be razed to grade level and the resulting debris moved from the premises.

#### **4.08 PLACEMENT OF GARBAGE CONTAINERS**

~~All approved residential garbage containers shall be placed for pick-up either at the curb or at an authorized alley location unless prior arrangements have been made with the Township for pickup at another location.~~ No garbage container shall be placed at the curb earlier than 24 hours preceding scheduled pickup, and all such containers shall be removed within 24 hours after pickup. When not at the curb for pickup, all garbage containers shall either be in an enclosed building or placed behind the front building line (the front wall of the house) which is the side or rear yard.

- A. **Multi-Family Dwelling Units.** All multi-family dwelling units utilizing a dumpster for trash removal must locate the dumpster to the rear of the structure, if possible. If a multi-family unit does not use a dumpster, residents must follow the same requirements as defined in Section 4.06, "Placement of Garbage Containers".
- B. **Bundling of Trash.** If trash is of such nature that it cannot be put in regulation containers, it shall be placed in a manner as specified by the trash hauler and placed at the curb or alley as specified under Section 4.08, "Placement of Garbage Containers".
- C. **Bulk Trash Pick-up.** Unless special arrangements have been made with the township prior to placement, bulk items shall not be placed at the curb earlier than 48 hours preceding the scheduled pickup.
- D. **Penalty.** In addition to penalties specified in Section 3.99, "Violations and Penalties", violations of Section 4.08, paragraph C, may result in the township abating the violation at the property owner's expense.

Formatted: Font: Bold

#### **4.09 JUNK, INCLUDING MOTOR VEHICLES**

- A. **Storage of Junk Motor Vehicle on Private Property.** No junk motor vehicle shall be maintained on any private property unless such vehicle is stored within a completely enclosed building.
- B. **Parking of Junk Motor Vehicle and Other Items on Public Property.** No trailer, storage container, junk motor vehicle or other item owned privately shall be

maintained on any public property.

**C. Impounding of Junk Motor Vehicle and Other Items.** In addition to other remedies provided by law, the enforcement officer may order into storage any vehicle maintained in violation of any provision of this resolution. Prior to removal of any junk motor vehicle, the enforcement officer shall photograph the junk motor vehicle and record the make, model and serial number when available. The place of storage shall be designated by the enforcement official.

**D. Disposition of Junk Motor Vehicles Ordered into Storage.** Any junk motor vehicle ordered into storage that remains unclaimed for a period of thirty (30) days may be disposed of at a motor vehicle salvage dealer or scrap metal processing facility owned by or under contract with the township for the disposal of such motor vehicles, or may be sold by the township or licenses auctioneer at a public auction, after giving notice thereof by advertisement, published once a week for two successive weeks in a newspaper of general circulation in the township. Any moneys accruing from the disposition of an unclaimed motor vehicle that are in excess of the expenses resulting from the removal and storage of the vehicle shall be credited to the general fund of the township.

#### **4.10 GRAFFITI**

**A. Prohibited Conduct.**

1. No person shall inscribe, draw, or otherwise place or cause to be placed, any graffiti upon the surface of any building, structure or wall or surface of other property, including but not limited to sidewalks, walls, buildings, fences and signs, that is publicly or privately owned.
2. No parent or legal guardian shall knowingly permit any minor child in his or her custody or control to violate Paragraph A(1) hereof.
3. The parent or legal guardian or a minor defendant who resides with such parent or legal guardian at the time of the offense may be held liable for any fine or condition of restitution or reparation imposed by a court upon a minor for violations of this section, provided that such minor has not paid such fine or made restitution or reparation within the time ordered by the court, and further provided that such parent or legal guardian has been served with summons of notice to appear, whether in the original caused or in any subsequent proceedings arising there from.

**B. Removal by Owner.** It shall be the duty of the owner of the structure or wall or other private property, upon which any graffiti is placed or made, to remove, eradicate, or eliminate such inscription or representation within fourteen days of the occurrence unless granted additional time by the Township.

**C. Removal by the Township.**

1. The Township shall have the right but not the duty to remove graffiti from the exterior of private property if the owner informs the township of the presence of such graffiti and of the owners inability to remove it. Prior to the Township entering any private property to remove graffiti, the owner must sign a statement

authorizing removal by the Township and agreeing to pay the reasonable cost of such removal and to allow the recording of a lien against the real estate upon which the work was performed if the cost is not paid to the township within thirty (30) days of the date of the invoice sent to the owner. The owner must also sign a release holding the Township harmless from any claims, damages or suits brought for damages pursuant to any adverse or injurious effects of such chemicals or from the actions taken by the Township commencing working on the property. If the property owner does not remove the graffiti within the time specified or extended time requested and granted by the Township, or if the Township is unable to perform the work at the request of the owner, the owners shall be subject to the penalties provided in subsection 3.99 hereof.

2. If the township performs the graffiti removal pursuant to Paragraph C(1), hereof, it shall be entitled to a lien upon which the work was performed for the cost of the removal.
3. If the owner of private property fails to remove the graffiti and fails to comply with the notices to remove graffiti, the township shall cause the removal of the graffiti from the owner's property and may employ the necessary labor to perform such task. All expenses incurred shall be paid out of money in written return to the Auditor of Hamilton County with a statement of the charges for services in graffiti removal, together with a proper amounts shall be entered upon the tax duplicate, shall constitute a lien upon such lands from the date of the entry, and shall be collected as other taxes and returned to the Township with the General Fund. The remedy provided for in this subsection is in addition to the penalty provided in subsection 3.99 hereof.

#### **4.11 VACANT STRUCTURES AND PROPERTY**

- A. **Vacant structures.** All vacant structures and premises thereof shall be maintained in a clean, safe, secure and sanitary condition as provided herein so as not to cause a blighting problem or adversely affect the public health or safety.
- B. **Vacant property.** All vacant property shall be maintained in a clean, safe, secure and sanitary condition as provided herein so as not to cause a blighting problem or adversely affect the public health or safety.

#### **4.12 MOTOR VEHICLES**

- A. **Commercial Vehicle.** No commercial vehicle with a gross vehicle weight rated in excess of ten thousand (10,000) pounds, based on manufacturer's federal identification decal or serial number, or any commercial vehicle more than seven (7) feet in height and not owned by or associated with an existing business on subject property, may be parked in a Public Right of Way except for commercial vehicles making service calls or vehicles being used to move personal goods to or from a subject property.
- B. **Off Street Parking.** Parking and/or storing of any vehicle on a lawn or dirt surface shall be prohibited. On all tracts in residential districts, all open off-street parking areas shall be graded and surfaced with bituminous concrete (asphalt), Portland

cement concrete, brick, cobblestone or similar hard surface. Tracts with non-conforming gravel driveways must have a concrete apron at the roadway, but in no case shall a landscaped area (i.e. neither paved nor graveled) be used as an open off-street parking area.

- C. ~~Vehicles and Trailers and Recreational Vehicles~~. No licensed and operable trailer, utility trailer, watercraft, camping or recreational equipment, ~~panel truck, or semi-truck~~ shall be parked on a Township Public Right of Way at any time ~~without first obtaining a permit. for more than 48 hours.~~

Formatted: Strikethrough

#### **4.13 SWIMMING POOLS, SPAS AND HOT TUBS**

- A. **Swimming Pools**. Swimming pools shall be maintained in a clean and sanitary condition, and in good repair.
- B. **Enclosures**. Private swimming pools, hot tubs and spas, containing water more than twenty four (24) inches in depth shall be completely surrounded by a fence or barrier at least forty eight (48) inches in height above the finished ground level measured on the side of the barrier away from the pool. Gates and doors in such barriers shall be self-closing and self-latching. Where the self-latching device is less than fifty four (54) inches above the bottom of the gate, the release mechanism shall be located on the pool side of the gate. Self-closing and self-latching gates shall be maintained such that the gate will positively close and latch when released from an open position of six (6) inches from the gatepost. No existing pool enclosure shall be removed, replaced or changed in a manner that reduces its effectiveness as a safety barrier. Spas or hot tubs with an attached safety cover that complies with ASTM F1346 shall be exempt from the provisions of this section.

#### **4.14 SIGNAGE**

##### **Sign Maintenance.**

- A. All signage and incidental landscaping and/or lighting shall be maintained in good condition and shall not show evidence of deterioration. Neither lighting nor signage shall be permitted to be posted on trees and utility poles. (Zoning Code §314.32)
- B. All signage including billboards that may be lighted, shall be pointed away or shielded from any other residential properties so that light does not creep or shine onto adjacent properties.

#### **4.15 LIGHT POLLUTION**

All exterior lighting shall be pointed down, away or shielded from any other residential properties so that the light does not creep or shine onto adjacent properties.

#### **4.16 ANIMAL SLAUGHTERING**

No animals (deer, goats, etc.) that have been slaughtered are permitted to be hung from any outside area that can be seen by the general public. This includes decks, porches, etc. All

animal remains must be contained to the inside of a building such as a garage or shed.

**ATTACHMENTS**

**REFERENCES**

DRAFT